
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Gretchen Kostelny, President      Ana Espinoza, Vice President 
Zachary Taylor, Treasurer               Claire Clark, Secretary 
Janel King, Commissioner 
 

Berwyn Park District 
Monthly Committee Meeting 

Freedom Park Administration Building   
3701 S. Scoville Ave. Berwyn, IL 
February 10, 2026, at 4:30 p.m. 

Agenda 
 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call of Commissioners      (action)     
II. Adoption of Agenda      (action)  

III. Public Comments 
IV. Correspondence 
V. Financial Report 

a. Account Payables     (action) 
VI. Policy and Personnel 

VII. Recreation 
VIII. Parks and Facilities 

IX. Other Business 
a. Freedom Deed Amendment 
b. Intergovernmental Agreement with Berwyn School District 100 
c. Proksa Redevelopment     
d. Proksa Pond Updates 

i. Contract Approval    (action) 
X. Commissioner Comments 

XI. Executive Session 
a. The appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, performance, or dismissal of specific 

employees. 
b. The purchase or lease of real property for the use of the public body, including meetings held for 

the purpose of discussing whether a particular parcel should be acquired. 
c. Discussion of minutes of meetings lawfully closed under this Act, whether for purposes of 

approval by the body of the minutes or semi-annual review of the minutes as mandated by Section 
2.06 

d. Litigation, when an action against, affecting or on behalf of the particular public body has been 
filed and is pending before a court or administrative tribunal, or when the public body finds that an 
action is probable or imminent, in which case the basis for the finding shall be recorded and 
entered into the minutes of the closed meeting. 

XII. Adjournment       (action) 
 
The next regular scheduled meeting of the Board of Commissioners is February 17, 2026, at 6:00pm at Proksa Park 
Activity Center.  
The next Committee meeting of the Board of Commissioners is March 3, 2026, at 4:30pm at Freedom Park 
Administration Building.  
Persons with disabilities requiring reasonable accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact Director 
Fallon at 708-788-1701, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 



3701 S Scoville Ave. 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

708-788-1701 
 
 

 
berwynparks.org 

DATE:  2/10/2026 
TO:   The Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  Cindy Hayes 

Superintendent of Finance and HR 
RE:   Accounts Payable Report 
 

FINANCE 
 
 
First Half of February 2026 Payables: 

Check numbers: 26130-26146 (detail listing following this page) 

  Total:       $ 43,020.02 

    

 

 

I motion to approve the February 2026 payables in the amount of $ 43,020.02 

 



DATE: 02/02/26                                         BERWYN PARK DISTRICT                                                PAGE:   1
TIME: 16:42:46                                     CHECK RECONCILIATION REPORT                                                      
ID:  AP460000                                                                                                                      
                                              DATED FROM 01/21/2026  TO  02/03/2026                                                
                                                        ALL CHECK STATUSES                                                         

CHECK #  VENDOR    NAME                                  STATUS     ISSUE DATE       STATUS DATE                CHECK AMT           
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 26130  Brady     BradyIFS                                OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     686.71           
 26131  C.BERWYN  City of Berwyn                          OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     676.47           
 26132  CDS       CDS Office Technologies                 OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   2,476.76           
 26133  COMCAST2  COMCAST BUSINESS                        OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     241.06           
 26134  COMED     Com. Ed.                                VR         02/03/26        01/29/26                                      
 26135  FSS       FSS Technologies LLC                    OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   1,226.82           
 26136  ILNATRES  Illinois Department of Natural          OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   2,000.00           
 26137  KONICA    KONICA MINOLTA                          OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     152.28           
 26138  Moran     F.E. Moran, Inc.                        OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   2,907.51           
 26139  NICOR     Nicor Gas                               OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   1,721.79           
 26140  OFFICE D  ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC             OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                      39.99           
 26141  PARKREAT  PARKREATION, INC                        OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     193.70           
 26142  PDRMA     Park District Risk Management           OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                  19,218.32           
 26143  PROWASTE  Pro Waste Disposal Inc.                 OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                     390.00           
 26144  RELIABLE  RELIABLE FIRE & SECURITY                OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   1,180.00           
 26145  VSI       Vermont Systems Incorporated            OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   5,460.00           
 26146  COMED     Com. Ed.                                OUT        02/03/26        01/29/26                   4,448.61           

                                                                                     TOTAL---ALL CHECKS        43,020.02           



DATE: 02/02/2026                                          BERWYN PARK DISTRICT                                                       PAGE:   1
TIME: 16:47:58                                            PAID INVOICE LISTING                                                                
ID:   AP450000                                                                                                                                

                                                        FROM  01/21/2026  TO  02/03/2026                                                     

VENDOR #  INVOICE #                                                      INV. DATE              CHECK #  CHK DATE     CHECK AMT   INVOICE AMT/
                  ITEM DESCRIPTION                    ACCOUNT NUMBER                P.O. NUM                                         ITEM AMT
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Brady     BradyIFS                                                                                                                            

         11203870                                                        01/29/26               26130   02/03/26        686.71         686.71
                   01  Black kl liner                 10020055762                                                                      490.00
                   02  Indiv Nitrile glove M          10020055762                                                                       51.50
                   03  Indiv Nitrile glove L          10020055762                                                                       51.50
                   04  Indiv Nitrile glove XL         10020055762                                                                       51.50
                   05  Spartan Disinfectant           10020055762                                                                       42.21

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             686.71
C.BERWYN  City of Berwyn                                                                                                                      

         2025-00000036-GAS                                               01/29/26               26131   02/03/26        676.47         676.47
                   01  Unleaded gas                   10020055765                                                                      676.47

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             676.47
CDS       CDS Office Technologies                                                                                                             

         INV1748648                                                      01/20/26               26132   02/03/26      2,476.76       2,476.76
                   01  IT serv.                       10010051585                                                                    1,238.38
                   02  IT Serv.                       50010051585                                                                    1,238.38

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           2,476.76
COMCAST2  COMCAST BUSINESS                                                                                                                    

         Feb 26-FP                                                       01/26/26               26133   02/03/26        241.06         241.06
                   01  Phone and Internet             10010052641                                                                      241.06

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             241.06
COMED     Com. Ed.                                                                                                                            

         Dec 25- Hessler                                                 01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61          52.57
                   01  Elec Hessler                   50020052638                                                                       52.57

         Dec 25- LCC green                                               01/29/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61          31.27
                   01  LCC green                      50020052638                                                                       31.27

         Dec 25- SP                                                      01/26/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         404.68
                   01  Electric Sunshine              10020052638                                                                      404.68

         Dec 25-LCC                                                      01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         649.71
                   01  Electric LCC                   50020052638                                                                      649.71

         Dec 25-PP                                                       01/26/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         936.25
                   01  Electric Proksa                50020052638                                                                      936.25



DATE: 02/02/2026                                          BERWYN PARK DISTRICT                                                       PAGE:   2
TIME: 16:47:58                                            PAID INVOICE LISTING                                                                
ID:   AP450000                                                                                                                                

                                                        FROM  01/21/2026  TO  02/03/2026                                                     

VENDOR #  INVOICE #                                                      INV. DATE              CHECK #  CHK DATE     CHECK AMT   INVOICE AMT/
                  ITEM DESCRIPTION                    ACCOUNT NUMBER                P.O. NUM                                         ITEM AMT
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

         Jan 25- SP                                                      01/28/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         348.61
                   01  Electric Sunshine              10020052638                                                                      348.61

         Jan 26- LCC                                                     01/28/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         627.03
                   01  Electric LCC                   50020052638                                                                      627.03

         Jan 26- Smirz                                                   01/28/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61          42.22
                   01  Electric Smirz                 50020052638                                                                       42.22

         Jan 26-FP                                                       01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         518.63
                   01  Elec Freedom                   10020052638                                                                      518.63

         Jan 26-Hessler                                                  01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61          54.47
                   01  Elec Hessler                   50020052638                                                                       54.47

         Jan 26-PP                                                       01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61         688.23
                   01  Elec Proksa                    50020052638                                                                      688.23

         Jan 26-Smirz                                                    01/27/26               26146   02/03/26      4,448.61          94.94
                   01  Elec Smirz                     50020052638                                                                       94.94

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           4,448.61
FSS       FSS Technologies LLC                                                                                                                

         I-85104                                                         01/20/26               26135   02/03/26      1,226.82       1,226.82
                   01  Access control                 10020052640                                                                    1,226.82

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           1,226.82
ILNATRES  Illinois Department of Natural                                                                                                      

         Grant Award Fee                                                 01/27/26               26136   02/03/26      2,000.00       2,000.00
                   01  Grant Award Fee                41000056832                                                                    2,000.00

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           2,000.00
KONICA    KONICA MINOLTA                                                                                                                      

         48489522                                                        01/26/26               26137   02/03/26        152.28         152.28
                   01  Copier                         50010052617                                                                      152.28

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             152.28
Moran     F.E. Moran, Inc.                                                                                                                    

         5075582-1                                                       01/20/26               26138   02/03/26      2,907.51       2,907.51
                   01  HVAC-Maintenance garage        10020053666                                                                    2,907.51



DATE: 02/02/2026                                          BERWYN PARK DISTRICT                                                       PAGE:   3
TIME: 16:47:58                                            PAID INVOICE LISTING                                                                
ID:   AP450000                                                                                                                                

                                                        FROM  01/21/2026  TO  02/03/2026                                                     

VENDOR #  INVOICE #                                                      INV. DATE              CHECK #  CHK DATE     CHECK AMT   INVOICE AMT/
                  ITEM DESCRIPTION                    ACCOUNT NUMBER                P.O. NUM                                         ITEM AMT
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           2,907.51
NICOR     Nicor Gas                                                                                                                           

         Jan 26- FP                                                      01/27/26               26139   02/03/26      1,721.79         295.20
                   01  Natural gas Freedom            10020052637                                                                      295.20

         Jan 26-LCC                                                      01/27/26               26139   02/03/26      1,721.79         544.37
                   01  Natural gas LCC                50020052637                                                                      544.37

         Jan 26-LCC gen                                                  01/27/26               26139   02/03/26      1,721.79         165.85
                   01  LCC gen                        50020052637                                                                      165.85

         Jan 26-PP                                                       01/27/26               26139   02/03/26      1,721.79         245.96
                   01  Natural gas Proksa             50020052637                                                                      245.96

         Jan 26-SP                                                       01/27/26               26139   02/03/26      1,721.79         470.41
                   01  Natural gas Sunshine           10020052637                                                                      470.41

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           1,721.79
OFFICE D  ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC                                                                                                         

         4559019522001                                                   01/26/26               26140   02/03/26         39.99          39.99
                   01  copy paper                     10010055790                                                                       39.99

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:              39.99
PARKREAT  PARKREATION, INC                                                                                                                    

         8300                                                            01/15/26               26141   02/03/26        193.70         193.70
                   01  Trivalent and Link chains      10020053662                                                                      193.70

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             193.70
PDRMA     Park District Risk Management                                                                                                       

         0126066H                                                        01/28/26               26142   02/03/26     19,218.32      19,218.32
                   01  Monthly Member Contribution    10010050510                                                                    9,609.16
                   02  Monthly Member Contribution    50010050510                                                                    9,609.16

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:          19,218.32
PROWASTE  Pro Waste Disposal Inc.                                                                                                             

         I15879                                                          01/26/26               26143   02/03/26        390.00         195.00
                   01  Porta Potty Proksa             25000052615                                                                      195.00

         I15880                                                          01/26/26               26143   02/03/26        390.00         195.00
                   01  Porta Potty Freedom            25000052615                                                                      195.00



DATE: 02/02/2026                                          BERWYN PARK DISTRICT                                                       PAGE:   4
TIME: 16:47:58                                            PAID INVOICE LISTING                                                                
ID:   AP450000                                                                                                                                

                                                        FROM  01/21/2026  TO  02/03/2026                                                     

VENDOR #  INVOICE #                                                      INV. DATE              CHECK #  CHK DATE     CHECK AMT   INVOICE AMT/
                  ITEM DESCRIPTION                    ACCOUNT NUMBER                P.O. NUM                                         ITEM AMT
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:             390.00
RELIABLE  RELIABLE FIRE & SECURITY                                                                                                            

         144173                                                          01/21/26               26144   02/03/26      1,180.00         590.00
                   01  Sprinkler Sys. Inspection      10020053665                                                                      590.00

         144174                                                          01/21/26               26144   02/03/26      1,180.00         590.00
                   01  Sprinkler Sys Inspec. SP       10020053665                                                                      590.00

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           1,180.00
VSI       Vermont Systems Incorporated                                                                                                        

         VSI Cloud                                                       01/22/26               26145   02/03/26      5,460.00       5,460.00
                   01  VSI Cloud                      50010052721                                                                    5,460.00

                                                                                                             VENDOR TOTAL:           5,460.00
                                                                                                   TOTAL --- ALL INVOICES:          43,020.02



3701 S Scoville Ave. 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

708-788-1701 
 
 

 
berwynparks.org 

DATE:  February 5, 2026 
TO:   The Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  Mary Swade, Superintendent of Recreation  
RE:   Recreation  
 
 
Athletics:  
 

• We have 11 enrolled in Little Hoopers-Adult/Tot Basketball. 
• We have 9 enrolled in the Future Hoop Stars ages 5-7 and 6 in the 8-12 age group.  
• We have 11 enrolled in Adult/Tot Little Warriors.  
• We have 7 enrolled in Winter Adult-Tot Soccer.  
• We have 7 enrolled in Volleyball Fundamentals.  
• We have 10 enrolled in the Little Ninjas.  
 

 
General Recreation:  
 

• We have 12 enrolled in First Step Twos. This class is full.  
• We have 12 signed up for Preschool Afternoons. This class is full.  
• We have 10 enrolled in Book & Bites.   
• We have 7 enrolled in Let’s Investigate.  
• We have 7 enrolled in Tots in Action. 
• We have 12 enrolled in Mini Messy Makers.  
• We have 7 enrolled in Animal Action.   

 
Marketing: 
 

• Please see attached  
 
Special Events:   
 

• We have 3 enrolled in the Tasting Table-Donuts. 
• We have 5 teams enrolled in the Puzzle Palooza.  
• We have 14 signed up for the Family Day Out-Laser Taylor Swift.  
• We have 14 signed up for the Nerf Battle. 

 
 
 



FollowsVisits/Reach Interactions

Facebook

Instagram

Other Marketing Benchmarks

Views

Calameo (Digital Guide)

Top Posts

Facebook Instagram

Marketing Report

12825 12627.2K

17977 1749.0K

Google Analytics (berwynparks.org)

2.1k
Active Users

12k
Event Count

2k
New Users

26s
Average Engagement Time (per User Session)

1.4k
Views

35k
Page Views

3:33 
Avg Reading Time

10
Downloads

January 2026

Insights over 28-day period

276
Link Clicks

2,658

OVERVIEW

Views

2
Interactions

3
Clicks

2,072

OVERVIEW

Views

0
Follows

64
Interactions



3701 S Scoville Ave. 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

708-788-1701 
 
 

 
berwynparks.org 

DATE:  2/10/2026 
TO:   The Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  John Roberts, Superintendent of Parks and Facilities 
RE:   Department Report  
 
 

Completed Projects 
 

Project Status Completed Date 
Freedom Administration Building Repaired burst pipe January 6, 2026 
Sunshine Maintenance Building Repaired burst pipes January 8, 2026 
Proksa and Sunshine Buildings Sprinkler inspections  January 14, 2026 
All Buildings Back flow devices tested/repaired January 29, 2026 

 

Upcoming Projects 

Project Status Anticipated Completed Date 
 Sunshine Maintenance Building Repair/Paint Letters to Santa boxes February 6, 2026 
 Sunshine Maintenance Building Repair/Replace/Paint Presents February 12, 2026 
 Sunshine Maintenance Building Repair sink in outdoor restroom February 18, 2026 
 Proksa Park Remove/Replace Garden plots February 27, 2026 
Routine Maintenance,  

• Trash removal and collection of loose debris from all parks. 
• Clean all facilities.    
• Graffiti removal as needed. 
• Monthly inspections of vehicles, parks, and facilities. 
• Snow removal as needed. 



3701 S Scoville Ave. 
Berwyn, IL 60402 

708-788-1701 
 
 

 
berwynparks.org 

DATE:  2/10/2026 
TO:   The Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  Cathy Fallon, Executive Director 
RE:   Other Business   
 
 

• Included are the updated documents to be sent to Berwyn School District 100. This is to amend 
the original deed between the Park District and School District and create an Intergovernmental 
Agreement between the Park and School District. The amendment is necessary for the Park 
District to apply for the 2026 OSLAD cycle. I would look for consensus to move forward.  

• Proksa Redevelopment: Included is a financial breakdown of the projects to date. This will be 
updated for each meeting moving forward until the completion of the project. There is also a 
project estimate from RVI included in this report. All of the numbers are estimates until the 
project goes out to bid.  

o The Disc Golf baskets do not need to be replaced.  
o A meeting between RVI and the Park District is scheduled for 2/6/26. 

• Included is the contract between the Park District and Aquascape. The contract has been 
reviewed and approved by the Park District attorney. The project is scheduled to begin the 
middle of March.  

 

 
   

 
 



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

RELEASE DEED  

  
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT  

Berwyn South School District 100 of the County of Cook, State of Illinois for and in 
consideration of Ten and No/ 1 00 ($10.00) DOLLARS, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby remise, release, convey 
and quit claim unto the Berwyn Park District, 3701 S. Scoville Ave., Berwyn, IL, their heirs, 
legal representatives, and assigns, all the right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever we 
may have acquired in, through, or by that certain quit claim deed bearing date of the 17th day of 
November ,1981, and recorded in the Recorder's Office of Cook County, as Document Number 
26074725 to the premises therein described, situated in the County of Cook State of Illinois, as 
follows, to wit:  

Attachment 1 hereto  

Permanent Real Estate Index Number: 16-31-418-012, 16-31-418-018, 16-31-418-075  

Property Commonly Known As: 3710, 3712, and 3740 Scoville, Avenue, Berwyn, IL. 
  
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

WITNESS my hand and seal this   day of February, 2026   
  
  

              
Name:         
Title:         

 

  

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
  
I, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County, in the State aforesaid, DO 
HEREBY  CERTIFY that         and personally known to me to be the same 
person whose  name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this 
day in person, acknowledged that she signed, sealed and delivered the said instrument as 
her free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes therein set forth.  
 
Given under my hand and official seal, this day of February, 2026  

  

    (NOTARY PUBLIC)  

  

  
 

PREPARED BY and MAIL TO:  
Michael M. Roth  
Roth Legal, LLC  
256 Adelia Street  
Elmhurst, IL  60126  



 
 

 
 

Attachment 1 
 

Legal Description and Property Index Numbers 
 
 

THE WEST 172.4 FEET OF THE NORTH HALF OF LOT 2 IN BLOCK 62 IN OLIVER L. 
WATSON’S OGDEN AVENUE ADDITION TO BERWYN IN SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, WITH A REAL ESTATE INDEX NUMBER 16-31-418-012. 
 
THE WEST HALF OF THE SOUTH HALF OF LOT 4 IN BLOCK 62 OF OLIVER L. 
WATSON’S OGDEN AVENUE ADDITION TO BERWYN IN SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, WITH A REAL ESTATE INDEX NUMBER 16-31-418-018. 
 
THE EAST HALF OF LOT 9, THE EAST HALF OF LOT 10, AND THE EAST HALF OF LOT 
8 IN BLOCK 62 OF OLIVER L. WATSON’S OGDEN AVENUE ADDITION TO BERWYN IN 
SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, WITH A REAL ESTATE INDEX NUMBER 16-
31-418-075. 

 



 

 1 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR  
USE RIGHTS TO FREEDOM PARK 

 
 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this ___ 
day of February, 2026, by and between Berwyn South School District 100 (the “SD 100)”), an 
Illinois school district under the Illinois School Code (105 ILCS 5/1-1 et seq.) (the “School 
Code”), and the Berwyn Park District, organized and operating in conformance with the 
provisions of the Illinois Park District Act (70 ILCS 1205-1, et seq.) (the “Act”)) (the “District”). 

RECITALS 
 

A. The Local Government Transfer Act, 50 ILCS 605/0.01 et seq. authorized the 
District and SD 100 to enter into agreements between them for the conveyance of interests in real 
property, including conditions, limitations, qualifications, reversions, and possibility of 
reversions in real estate ownership, and  
 
 B. By quit claim deed dated November 17, 1981 attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein by reference, SD 100 conveyed title to the real estate identified in Exhibit A 
(the “Subject Property”) to the District, subject to the conditions that the District’s use of the 
Subject Property shall be for purposes of a park, a recreational area, or physical education 
programs; and subject to the reservation, as a condition subsequent, of limited rights for SD 100, 
and its agents and individuals authorized by SD 100, to continue to use the Subject Property, in 
perpetuity, from 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. on days when school in SD 100 is in session.  
 

C. Under the aforesaid quit claim deed, should the District breach or otherwise fail to 
fully comply with the conditions stated above, School District 100 may upon notice and failure 
of the District to cure, re-enter the Subject Property, whereupon title to the Subject Property will 
revert and revest in School District 100, and the District will lose and forfeit all rights title and 
interest in and the Subject Property. 
 
 D. After due consideration, the District and SD 100 wish to release the aforesaid 
limited use rights as a deed restriction, but preserve SD 100’s use rights to Freedom Park and the 
other Berwyn Park District parks listed on Exhibit B hereto, by way of this Agreement, subject to 
the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, based on the mutual promises and considerations set forth herein, 
the terms and conditions hereof, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals.  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby 
incorporated into and made part of this Agreement as though fully set forth in this Section 1. 

Section 2. Release Deed.  SD 100 and the District shall take the appropriate steps to 
record the Release Deed attached hereto as Exhibit B hereto.   

Section 3. SD 100 Use Rights.  SD 100 is hereby granted the use rights to Freedom 



 

 2 

Park and the other Berwyn Park District parks listed on Exhibit B hereto, as contractual rights 
and obligations.   

Section 4. Enforcement.  SD 100 shall have the right to specific performance of this 
Agreement and the aforesaid conditions and use rights, and SD 100 shall be entitled to recover 
its costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees if SD 100 prevails in litigation against the 
District to enforce its rights herein.   

Section 5. Release Deed.  Upon execution of this Agreement by SD 100 and the 
District, SD 100 shall promptly execute, and the District shall record, the Release Deed 
attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Section 6. .Complete Understanding.  This Agreement sets forth all of the promises, 
agreements, conditions and understandings between the parties regarding the subject matter of 
this Agreement, and there are no promises, agreements, conditions and understandings, either 
oral or written, other than the contents of this Agreement. 

Section 7. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit the SD 100 and the District, and their respective legal representatives and successors. 

Section 8. Partial Invalidity.  The clauses, provisions and sections of this Agreement 
are deemed by the parties to be separable and the invalidity of any portion of this Agreement 
shall not effect the validity of the remainder. 

Section 9. Notices.  All notices and demands required hereunder shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed to have been given or made when delivered personally, with proof of 
delivery thereof, or when mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or by facsimile 
transmission followed on the same date as the facsimile by mailing, addressed as follows: 

  For the City:  Berwyn South School District 100 
     Attention: Mary Havis, Superintendent 
     3401 S. Gunderson Avenue 
     Berwyn, Illinois 60402 
     Email: mhavis@bsd100.org 
 
  For the District: Berwyn Park District 
     Attention:  Cathy Fallon, Executive Director 
     3701 S. Scoville Avenue 
     Berwyn, Illinois 60402 
     Email: cfallon@berwynparks.org 
      
 
  With a copy to: Michael M. Roth, Esq. 
     Roth Legal, LLC 
     256 Adelia Street 
     Elmhurst, IL 60126 
     Email:  Michael.roth.atty@outlook.com 
 

mailto:mhavis@bsd100.org
mailto:cfallon@berwynparks.org
mailto:Michael.roth.atty@outlook.com


 

 3 

or at other such addresses as the parties may indicate in writing to the other either by personal 
delivery or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with proof of delivery 
thereof, or by facsimile. 
 

Section 10. Execution.  This Agreement is entered into by the duly authorized agents 
of the parties, each acting pursuant to the laws and ordinances governing their designation as 
signatories of this Agreement. 

SD 100: 
 
BERWYN SOUTH SCHOOL DISTRICT 100, 
an Illinois school district 
 
 
 
By:         
 Elizabeth Jimenez, President 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:         
 Wendy Gonzales, Secretary 

District: 
 
BERWYN PARK DISTRICT, organized and 
operating in conformance with the provisions 
of the Illinois Park District Act 
 
 
By:         
 Cathy Fallon, Executive Director 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:         

 



 

 4 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

QUIT CLAIM DEED 
 



 

 5 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

RELEASE DEED 
 



 

 6 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

BERWYN PARKS SUBJECT TO INTERGOVERNMENTAL USE  
TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

 



 

 7 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF  
BERWYN SOUTH SCHOOL DISTRICT 100 PARK USE RIGHTS  

 
 



 1 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF IINTERGOVERNMENTAL LAND 
USE AGREEMENT WITH BERWYN SOUTH SCHOOL DISTRICT 100 

WHEREAS, the Berwyn Park District (the “DISTRICT”) is an Illinois park district 
under the Park District Code, 70 ILCS 1205/1-1 et. seq. (the “Code”) 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution authorizes units of 
local government to contract and associate among themselves to obtain or share services and to 
exercise, combine, or transfer any power or function, in any manner not prohibited by law or 
ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as amended, 5 ILCS 220/1 et. seq., 
authorizes units of local government to exercise and enjoy jointly their powers, privileges or 
authority, and to enter into intergovernmental agreements for that purpose; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Park Commissioners of the DISTRICT hereto have 
determined that it is in the best interest of the DISTRICT to enter into an agreement with 
Berwyn South School District 100 (“SD 100”) to record a Release Deed with respect to SD 
100’s use of Freedom Park and to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with SD 100 
regard to SD 100’s use of Berwyn Park District parks in general, upon the terms and 
conditions set forth in Exhibit A hereto. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the 
Berwyn Park District in the County of Cook, State of Illinois: 

SECTION 1: That the President of the DISTRICT and the Secretary of the DISTRICT 
be and are hereby directed and authorized to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

SECTION 2: That upon approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement and the 
Release Deed by SD 100, the Executive Director shall take the appropriate steps to record the 
Release Deed attached hereto as Exhibit “B” with the Cook County Recorder 

SECTION 3: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption and approval. 

 

 

 

 



 2 

 

 
AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

Passed this ____ day of February, 2026. 

Approved this   day of February, 2026. 

President of the Board of Commissioners of the Berwyn Park District 

   

 

Attest: 

Secretary of the Board of Commissioners of the Berwyn Park District 

 

   



 3 

EXHIBIT A 

INTERGOVERNMETAL AGREEMENT  



 4 

EXHIBIT B 

RELEASE DEED 



 
1 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF IINTERGOVERNMENTAL LAND 
USE AGREEMENT WITH BERWYN PARK DISTRICT  

WHEREAS, the Berwyn South School District 100 (the “DISTRICT”) is an Illinois 
school district under the Illinois School Code, 105 ILCS 5/ /1-1 et. seq. (the “Code”) 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution authorizes units of 
local government to contract and associate among themselves to obtain or share services and to 
exercise, combine, or transfer any power or function, in any manner not prohibited by law or 
ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as amended, 5 ILCS 220/1 et. seq., 
authorizes units of local government to exercise and enjoy jointly their powers, privileges or 
authority, and to enter into intergovernmental agreements for that purpose; and 

WHEREAS, the School Board of Education of the DISTRICT hereto have 
determined that it is in the best interest of the DISTRICT to enter into an agreement with the 
Berwyn Park District (“BPD”) to record a Release Deed with respect to the DISTRICT’s use of 
BPD’s Freedom Park and to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with BPD regard to the 
DISTRICT’s use of BPD parks in general, upon the terms and conditions set forth in Exhibit A 
hereto. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the School Board of Education of 
Berwyn South School District 100 in the County of Cook, State of Illinois: 

SECTION 1: That the President of the DISTRICT and the Secretary of the DISTRICT 
be and are hereby directed and authorized to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement attached 
hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

SECTION 2: That upon approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement and the 
Release Deed by the Berwyn Park District, the Superintendent of SD 100 in cooperation with 
the Executive Director of BPD shall take the appropriate steps for the recording of the Release 
Deed attached hereto as Exhibit “B” with the Cook County Recorder 

SECTION 3: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption and approval. 

 

 

 



 
2 

 

 
AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

 

Passed this ____ day of February, 2026. 

APPROVED this   day of February, 2026. 

Berwyn South School District 100 

   
Elizabeth Jimenez, President 

ATTEST: 
 

   
Wendy Gonzales, Secretary  
  



 
3 

EXHIBIT A 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 

  



 
4 

EXHIBIT B 
 

RELEASE DEED 



 2026 Capital Expenditures Capital Opening Balance

2,971,857.00$                                     
Projects: Vendor Expense

Proksa Park Redevelopment
RVI (LA Prof Services) 55,099.94$                  (55,099.94)$                                           
Vanderstappen Topographical Survey 15,380.00$                  (15,380.00)$                                           

Proksa Pond Repairs

Proksa Trails Grant
Grant Award Fee 2,000.00$                     (2,000.00)$                                              

Miscellaneous Repair/Improvements
Removal of Veteran's Memorial

Capital Ending Balance 2,899,377.06$                                     



Proksa Redevelopment Estimates
Estimated Base Cost Alternate Estimate

Playground Flooring 17,000.00$                                                                112,000.00$               

Propsed Phase 2
Connection to City walkways
Veteran's Memorial Redevelopment
Children's Garden



Design Development - Summary

Date: December 19, 2025

RE: Proksa Park

Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit

Unit 

Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

Construction Costs - OSLAD 1 LS 643,675$           

Construction Costs - RTP 1 LS 271,080$           

Subtotal: 914,755$           

Contingencies:

design contingency (%) 1 LS 8% 73,180$              

bid contingency (%) 1 LS 5% 45,738$              

construction contingency (%) 1 LS 10% 91,476$              

Subtotal: 210,394$           

Other Project Costs:

by owner items 1 LS 214,322$           

Subtotal: 214,322$           

Construction Costs Total: 1,339,470$       

IDNR OSLAD/RTP Grant Estimate: 1,254,600$      

Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit

Unit 

Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

final design services 1 FIXED 75,100$              

permitting phase services 1 T&M 10,200$              

bidding phase services 1 T&M 7,500$                

construction phase services 1 T&M 37,200$              

grant reporting phase 1 FIXED 5,000$                

optional service: pop-up event 1 FIXED 2,000$                

amendment #1 1 ALLOW 30,000$              

reimbursable expenses 1 ALLOW 2,000$                

topographic and boundary survey 1 ALLOW 18,440$              

geotechnical investigation 1 ALLOW 9,005$                

construction testing services 1 ALLOW 5,000$                

CPA reporting fee 1 ALLOW 5,200$                

permitting agency fees

Design / Engineering Costs Total: 206,645$           

IDNR OSLAD/RTP Grant Estimate: 195,400$          

NOT INCLUDED

Construction Costs

Design / Engineering Costs



Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit

Unit 

Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

IDNR OSLAD grant 1 LS 600,000$           

IDNR RTP grant 1 LS 200,000$           

Berwyn Park District 1 LS 650,000$           

Project Funding Total: 1,450,000$       

TOTAL PROJECT COST: 1,546,115$       

DIFFERENCE: (96,115)$            

Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit

Unit 

Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

Alternate #1: PIP Surfacing at Playground 1 LS 112,550$           

Alternate #2: Lighting at Picnic Shelter 1 LS 26,730$              

Alternate #3: Site Furnishings 1 LS 34,075$              

Subtotal: 173,355$           

Alternates Total: 173,355$           

Project Funding

Alternates



Design Development - Construction Costs - OSLAD

Date: December 19, 2025

RE: Proksa Park

Section Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

0 & 1 Contracting and General Requirements

contracting requirements 1 LS 4% $23,410

general conditions 1 LS 4% $23,410

layout & as-built survey 1 LS 2% $11,700

Subtotal: 58,520$             

015000 Temporary Facilities and Controls

silt fence 400 LF 5$                    2,000$                

temporary construction fence 1,050 LF 10$                 10,500$             

tree protection fence 550 LF 5$                    2,750$                

inlet protection 2 EA 750$               1,500$                

concrete washout 1 EA 1,500$          1,500$                

stabilized construction entrance 1 LS 1,500$          1,500$                

erosion control blanket 3,400 SY 3$                    10,200$             

Subtotal: 29,950$             

033000 Cast-in-Place Concrete

shelter footings 6 CY 2,000$          12,000$             

disc golf basket footings 3 CY 1,000$          3,000$                

playground footings

Subtotal: 15,000$             

116800 Play Field Equipment and Structures

playground equipment (installation) 1 50% 87,500$        87,500$             

picnic shelter (installation) 1 75% 16,500$        16,500$             

Subtotal: 104,000$           

265600 Exterior Lighting

removal and reinstall light pole 4 EA 3,500$          14,000$             

Subtotal: 14,000$             

included in equipment installation

Construction Costs - OSLAD



311000 Site Clearing

tree removal 1 EA 750$               750$                    

clearing and grubbing 85 SY 4$                    340$                    

remove engineered wood fiber 350 CY 45$                 15,750$             

remove shrubs and landscaping 135 SF 4$                    540$                    

remove asphalt paving 16,720 SF 3$                    50,160$             

remove brick paving 450 SF 4$                    1,800$                

remove concrete paving 440 SF 4$                    1,760$                

remove timber curb 130 LF 10$                 1,300$                

remove concrete curb 330 LF 20$                 6,600$                

remove concrete block wall 320 LF 20$                 6,400$                

remove fencing 270 LF 10$                 2,700$                

remove bench 4 EA 150$               600$                    

remove group table 3 EA 250$               750$                    

remove disc golf basket and footing 9 EA 150$               1,350$                

remove drinking fountain 1 EA 1,000$          1,000$                

sewer removal/structure adjustment 1 LS 2,500$          2,500$                

remove play equipment and footings 1 LS 8,000$          8,000$                

Subtotal: 102,300$           

312000 Earth Moving

topsoil strip and respread 500 CY 25$                 12,500$             

earthwork 750 CY 20$                 15,000$             

haul off unsuitable/excess material 315 CY 50$                 15,750$             

4" aggregate base (CA-7) at playground 100 CY 50$                 5,000$                

Subtotal: 48,250$             

321216 Asphalt Paving

asphalt paving - pedestrian 1,405 SY 40$                 56,200$             

Subtotal: 56,200$             

321313 Concrete Paving and Curbs

concrete paving - pedestrian 3,900 SF 14$                 54,600$             

playground curb 470 LF 45$                 21,150$             

thickened edge curb 70 LF 45$                 3,150$                

playground ramp, type A 1 EA 1,500$          1,500$                

playground ramp, type B 1 EA 3,000$          3,000$                

Subtotal: 83,400$             

321816 Playground Protective Surfacing

engineered wood fiber 250 CY 100$               25,000$             

Subtotal: 25,000$             

329200 Turf and Grasses

turf grass seeding 2,400 SY 3$                    7,200$                

Subtotal: 7,200$                

329300 Plants

deciduous shrub 7 EA 75$                 525$                    

ornamental grass 25 EA 25$                 625$                    

perennial 193 EA 25$                 4,825$                

mulch 30 CY 100$               3,000$                

Subtotal: 8,975$                



334100 Storm Utility Drainage Piping

below grade StormTrap detention 0.13 ACFT 450,000$     60,300$             

outlet control structure modification 1 EA 2,500$          2,500$                

4' Dia. Catch basin 1 EA 2,000$          2,000$                

cleanouts 4 EA 750$               3,000$                

underdrain, 4" PVC, perforated 120 LF 30$                 3,600$                

storm sewer, 6" PVC, solid wall 62 LF 40$                 2,480$                

storm sewer, 12" PVC, solid wall 100 LF 60$                 6,000$                

trench backfill 100 CY 50$                 5,000$                

connect to existing StormTrap 1 LS 2,000$          2,000$                

storm allowance 1 LS 4,000$          4,000$                

Subtotal: 90,880$             

Section Subtotal: 585,155$           

Construction Costs Total: 643,675$           



Design Development - Construction Costs - RTP

Date: December 19, 2025

RE: Proksa Park

Section Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

0 & 1 Contracting and General Requirements

contracting requirements 1 LS 4% $9,860

general conditions 1 LS 4% $9,860

layout & as-built survey 1 LS 2% $4,930

Subtotal: 24,650$              

015000 Temporary Facilities and Controls

silt fence 50 LF 5$                     250$                     

tree protection fence 1,300 LF 5$                     6,500$                 

erosion control blanket 4,665 SY 3$                     13,995$              

Subtotal: 20,745$              

311000 Site Clearing

remove asphalt paving 25,900 SF 3$                     77,700$              

remove concrete paving 20 SF 4$                     80$                       

remove bench 10 EA 150$               1,500$                 

remove group table 3 EA 250$               750$                     

Subtotal: 80,030$              

312000 Earth Moving

topsoil strip and respread 250 CY 25$                  6,250$                 

earthwork 500 CY 20$                  10,000$              

Subtotal: 16,250$              

321216 Asphalt Paving

asphalt paving - pedestrian 2,600 SY 40$                  104,000$           

Subtotal: 104,000$           

321313 Concrete Paving and Curbs

concrete paving - pedestrian 815 SF 14$                  11,410$              

Subtotal: 11,410$              

329200 Turf and Grasses

turf grass seeding 4,665 SY 3$                     13,995$              

Subtotal: 13,995$              

Construction Costs - RTP



Section Subtotal: 246,430$           

Construction Costs Total: 271,080$           



Design Development - By Owner Items

Date: December 19, 2025

RE: Proksa Park

Code Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

PI trash receptacle, surface mount 7 EA 750$               ALTERNATE

PI game table, surface mount 2 EA 1,420$           2,840$                

PI picnic table, surface mount 2 EA 2,500$           ALTERNATE

PI bench, surface mount 10 EA 1,560$           ALTERNATE

PI interpretive sign, surface mount 1 EA 1,500$           1,500$                

PI trailhead sign, surface mount 1 EA 1,500$           1,500$                

PI disc golf sign, embeded 9 EA 100$               900$                    

PI bike repair station, surface mount 1 LS 3,000$           3,000$                

PI bike rack, surface mount 5 EA 692$               3,460$                

C disc golf basket, embeded 1 LS 4,122$           4,122$                

C playground equipment, embeded 1 LS 175,000$      175,000$           

C picnic shelter, embeded 1 LS 22,000$        22,000$              

C drinking fountain, embeded 1 EA 4,700$           ALTERNATE

By Owner Items Total: 214,322$           

PI Owner purchase and installed

C Owner purchase, Contractor installed

By Owner Items



Design Development - Alternates

Date: December 19, 2025

RE: Proksa Park

Section Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

321313 Concrete Paving and Curbs

OMIT playground ramp 1 EA 3,000$           (3,000)$               

Subtotal: (3,000)$               

321816 Playground Protective Surfacing

OMIT engineered wood fiber 170 CY 100$               (17,000)$            

poured-in-place rubber 3,685 SF 28$                  103,180$           

Subtotal: 86,180$              

0 & 1 Contracting and General Requirements

contracting requirements 1 LS 4% $3,330

general conditions 1 LS 4% $3,330

layout & as-built survey 1 LS 2% $1,660

Subtotal: 8,320$                 

Contingencies:

design contingency (%) 1 LS 8% 7,320$                 

bid contingency (%) 1 LS 5% 4,580$                 

construction contingency (%) 1 LS 10% 9,150$                 

Subtotal: 21,050$              

Alternate #1 Total: 112,550$           

Section Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

265600 Exterior Lighting

shelter light 1 EA 2,500$           2,500$                 

shelter outlets 2 EA 500$               1,000$                 

connection to exiting panel 1 LS 5,000$           5,000$                 

conduit and wiring 150 LF 75$                  11,250$              

Subtotal: 19,750$              

0 & 1 Contracting and General Requirements

contracting requirements 1 LS 4% $790

general conditions 1 LS 4% $790

layout & as-built survey 1 LS 2% $400

Subtotal: 1,980$                 

Alternate #1: PIP Surfacing at Playground

Alternate #2: Lighting at Picnic Shelter



Contingencies:

design contingency (%) 1 LS 8% 1,740$                 

bid contingency (%) 1 LS 5% 1,090$                 

construction contingency (%) 1 LS 10% 2,170$                 

Subtotal: 5,000$                 

Alternate #1 Total: 26,730$              

Section Description

Estimated 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Extended Cost  Subtotal 

12933 Site Furnishings

trash receptacle, surface mount 7 EA 750$               5,250$                 

picnic table, surface mount 2 EA 2,500$           5,000$                 

bench, surface mount 10 EA 1,560$           15,600$              

drinking fountain, embeded 1 EA 4,700$           4,700$                 

drinking fountain (installation) 1 75% 3,525$           3,525$                 

Subtotal: 34,075$              

Alternate #1 Total: 34,075$              

Alternate #3: Site Furnishings



1 
 

 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR _______________________  

This Construction Contract (hereinafter referred to as the “Contract”) is entered into this __ day of ____, 
202_, by and between Aquascape Inc., an Illinois corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Aquascape”) and 
the Berwyn Park District, an Illinois park district (here in after referred to as “Customer”).  Customer 
represents that the Customer is the  customer of the Premises (defined below) and has authority to enter this 
Contract 

I. Aquascape’s Obligations 

1. Aquascape shall construct a Water Feature on the premises commonly known as the Freedom Park 
pond (hereinafter referred to as the “Premises”). The term “Work” means the construction and 
services required by this Contract and Exhibits (the “Contract Documents”), and includes all other 
labor, materials, equipment, and services provided, or to be provided, by the Aquascape to fulfill 
Aquascape’s obligations. 

2. The Water Feature will be constructed in accordance with the plans and specifications attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, which have been collaboratively developed and agreed upon by both parties 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Water Feature” or the “Project”). Aquascape shall be solely 
responsible for and have control over construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures, and for coordinating all portions of the Work. 

3. Aquascape will furnish the materials and supplies required to construct the Work as detailed in 
Exhibit A.  Aquascape will also provide design / build services including oversight of provided 
laborers and other contractors involved in the construction of the Water Feature.  

4. Aquascape shall obtain and pay for any required building permit and other permits and 
governmental fees, licenses, and inspections necessary for proper execution and completion of 
the Project. 

5.  Aquascape shall supervise and direct the Work using Aquascape’s best skill and attention.   
Aquascape shall enforce strict discipline and good order among Aquascape’s employees and other 
persons carrying out the Contract Work. Aquascape shall not permit employment of unfit persons or 
persons not skilled in tasks assigned to them.   

6. Aquascape shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from property and vegetation damage, 
accumulation of debris and trash related to the Work. At the completion of the Project Work, 
Aquascape shall remove its tools, construction equipment, machinery, and surplus material; and 
shall properly dispose of waste materials.   Aquascape shall confine operations at the site to areas 
permitted by law, ordinances, permits, the Contract Documents, and the Customer. 

7. The Water Feature construction is set to begin on _____ of 2026 (“Commencement Date”) and be 



2 
 

complete by _____ of the year 2026 (“Completion Date”).  Aquascape will be on-site for 
extended periods of time at varying lengths throughout the _______ weeks planned to complete 
the Project. The Project shall be substantially complete within days from the Commencement 
Date.  Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or 
designated portion thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents 
so Customer can utilize the Work for its intended use. When the Contractor believes that the 
Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, it will notify the PM and the PM 
will make an inspection to determine whether the Work is substantially complete. When the PM 
determines that the Work is substantially complete, the PM shall prepare a Certificate of 
Substantial Completion that shall establish the date of Substantial Completion, establish the 
responsibilities of the Customer and Contractor, and fix the time within which the Contractor 
shall finish all items on the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the 
Contract Documents shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or 
designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion. 

8. A project plan with general dates of onsite project management by Aquascape is attached 
as  Exhibit A. This project plan is subject to change but is included here with the 
intention of scoping the start and end date of the project.  

9.    Aquascape warrants to customer that: (1) materials and equipment furnished under the 
Contract will be new and of good quality unless otherwise required or permitted by the 
Contract Documents; (2) the Work will be free from defects not inherent in the quality 
required or permitted; and (3) the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. Any material or equipment warranties required by the Contract Documents 
shall be issued in the name of the Customer, or shall be transferable to the Customer, 
and shall commence in accordance with Section 12.5.   

 

II. Other. 

1. Execution of the Contract by Aquascape is a representation that Aquascape has visited the site, 
become familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed, and correlated 
personal observations with requirements of the Contract Documents. 

2.  Aquascape shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents with each other and with 
information furnished by the Customer. Before commencing activities,  Aquascape shall (1) take field 
measurements and verify field conditions; and (2) carefully compare this and other information 
known to Aquascape with the Contract Documents. 

3. Customer. 

 

4.  
a. Aquascape shall maintain the following types and limits of insurance until the expiration of 

the period for correction of Work as set forth in Section 14.2, subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Section 5.1:   

Commercial General Liability insurance for the Project, written on an occurrence form, with 
policy limits of not less than  ($1,000,000 ) each occurrence,  ($2,000,000) general 
aggregate. 

 Aquascape may achieve the required limits and coverage for Commercial General 
Liability and Automobile Liability through a combination of primary and excess or 



3 
 

umbrella liability insurance, provided that such primary and excess or umbrella insurance 
policies result in the same or greater coverage as those required Fand in no event shall any 
excess or umbrella liability insurance provide narrower coverage than the primary policy. 
The excess policy shall not require exhaustion of the underlying limits only through the 
actual payment by the underlying insurers. 

b. Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits.   

c. Aquascape shall provide builder’s risk insurance to cover the total value of the entire 
Project on a replacement cost basis. 

5.                  Other Insurance Provided by Aquascape  

a. The Customer shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Customer’s usual 
liability insurance and shall provide property insurance to cover the value of the 
Customer’s property.  Aquascape is entitled to receive an increase in the Contract Sum 
equal to the insurance proceeds related to a loss for damage to the Work covered by the 
Customer’s property insurance. 

b.  Aquascape shall obtain an endorsement to its Commercial General Liability insurance 
policy to provide coverage for Aquascape’s obligations. 

c. Prior to commencement of the Work, each party shall provide certificates of insurance 
showing their respective coverages. 

d. Unless specifically precluded by the Customer’s property insurance policy, the Customer 
and Contractor waive all rights against (1) each other and any of their subcontractors, 
suppliers, agents, and employees, each of the other; and (2) the Architect, Architect’s 
consultants, and any of their agents and employees, for damages caused by fire or other 
causes of loss to the extent those losses are covered by property insurance or other 
insurance applicable to the Project, except such rights as they have to the proceeds of such 
insurance. 

  6.                    Unless this Contract specifically states otherwise, the Customer acknowledges that the 
                Project and the Contract Price do not include:  

a. The cost of bringing electricity to the Water Feature.  

b. The cost of bringing a water source to the Water Feature.  
c. The costs of procuring and or introducing fish and/or wildlife to the Water 

Feature.  

d. Landscaping around the Water Feature.  

III  Contract Price; Payment.  

1. The Contract Price is $414,893.01 and it shall include all items and services necessary for the proper 
execution and completion of the Project.  

2. Payment Terms:  

The payment schedule is listed in the table below. Aquascape will invoice Customer and will send 
invoices via email to Cathy Fallon <cfallon@berwynparks.org> 



4 
 

 
a. 30% upon the signing of this Contract  

b. 20% two weeks prior to the start date  

c. 30% at 75 percent completion of the Project  

d. 20% due at completion of the Project  

e. Payments will be due in US Dollar via electronic bank transfer as detailed in Exhibit 
B.  

Aquascape shall pay sales, consumer, use, and similar taxes that are legally required when 
the Contract is executed; provided however, Customer shall provide Contractor an 
exemption certificate for any applicable sale tax exemptions. 

 
3. Customer, without invalidating the Contract, may order changes in the Work within the general 

scope of the Contract, consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, and the Contract Sum 
and contract time shall be adjusted accordingly, in writing. the Public Works Contract Change 
Order Act (50 ILCS 525/5) shall apply. If customer and Aquascape cannot agree to a change in the 
Contract Sum, Customer shall pay Aquascape its actual cost plus reasonable overhead and profit. If 
Aquascape and Customer agree to the change order, Customer and Aquascape shall execute a 
written Change Order.  Said Change Order shall be considered as a rider to this Contract. There 
will be no verbal change orders. All change orders will be documented and signed by both parties.  

4. Once Aquascape has commenced work, Aquascape will use all reasonable efforts to complete 
the Project within the allotted time limit. However, Aquascape shall not be responsible for 
strikes, acts of war, material shortages, labor disputes other than disputes with Aquascape’s 
own employees, pandemics, and other acts and circumstances beyond its control.  

5. If either party incurs legal expenses to enforce the terms of this Contract, the prevailing party 
shall be entitled to recover its attorney’s fees, court costs, and all other reasonable costs 
expended in the enforcement of this Contract.  

6. Customer’s Project manager.  The Customer’s designated Project Manager (“PM”) will provide 
administration of the Contract as described in the Contract Documents. The PM will have 
authority to act on behalf of Customer only to the extent provided in the Contract Documents. 

a. The PM will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction to become 
generally familiar with the progress and quality of the Work. 

b. The PM will not have control over or charge of, and will not be responsible for, 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely the 
Contractor’s responsibility. The PM will not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to 
carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

c. Based on the PM’s observations and evaluations of the Contractor’s Applications for 
Payment, the PM will review and certify the amounts due the Contractor. 

d. The PM has authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. 



5 
 

e. The PM will promptly review and approve or take appropriate action upon Contractor’s 
submittals, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information 
given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. 

7.        Indemnification.   

a. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs, including all those required by law in connection with 
performance of the Contract. The Contractor shall take reasonable precautions to prevent 
damage, injury, or loss to employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, and other 
property at the site or adjacent thereto. The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and 
loss to property caused in whole or in part by the Contractor, or by anyone for whose acts 
the Contractor may be liable. 

b. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Aquascape shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
Customer, and its agents and employees of any of them, from and against claims, damages, 
losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting 
from performance of the Work, provided that such claim, damage, loss, or expense is 
attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of 
tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent caused by the 
negligent acts or omissions of Aquascape, a subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, regardless of whether or 
not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party indemnified 
hereunder. 

8. Aquascape represents and warrants that all its employees and subcontractors who will be 
performing services on the job site will be covered by Worker’s Compensation Insurance. 
However, the Customer shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Customer’s 
usual Liability Insurance and usual Hazard Insurance.  

a. Aquascape must be named as an additional insured on the policy covering the Project.  

9. This Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois and any lawsuit filed by 
either party with respect to enforcement of the Contract shall be filed in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in Cook County, Illinois.  

10. This Contract shall not be modified or amended except by another writing signed by both parties 
to this contract. This Contract represents the entire understanding of the parties and supersedes 
all previous and contemporaneous oral understanding and agreements.  

Aquascape Inc. ______________________________  

An Illinois Corporation A(n) Corporation  

By: By:  

Printed Name Printed Name  

 
 ____________________________________ _________________________________ 

 



6 
 

Exhibit A  

Project Scope :  
 

Phase 1: Renovation of Existing Water Feature – Proksa Park 

The main pond located at the western end of the water feature will be drained and cleaned of 
accumulated sediment and detritus to protect the newly installed filtration system from becoming 
overwhelmed. All existing wildlife will be safely captured and housed in temporary holding 
containers until the renovation is complete. 

The existing pumps will be removed and replaced with a large precast concrete vault designed to 
safely house the new pumping system. The vault will be installed in the same location as the 
existing pumps. This area will be excavated to the required length, width, and depth to 
accommodate the vault. A layer of geotextile fabric and crushed stone will be installed on the 
subgrade to provide a stable base capable of supporting the weight of the precast vault. 

The existing pond membrane will be permanently attached to the face of the concrete vault to 
create a watertight connection. 

A large skimmer basket will be installed within the vault to facilitate more efficient maintenance 
procedures. 

A modular wetland filtration system will be installed on the east side of the pond, adjacent to the 
existing bridge. The wetland filter will be constructed using a patented water distribution system 
combined with a sedimentation trap to enhance water quality. 

The wetland filter will be housed within an excavation measuring approximately 25 feet wide by 40 
feet long, with a minimum depth of 4.5 feet. All excavated material (approximately 200 cubic 
yards) will be reused on-site to minimize hauling costs. 

A secondary pump will be installed within the pump vault to increase overall water circulation. 
This pump will discharge water through a piping system delivering flow to multiple discharge 
points along the southern and western edges of the pond. 

 
Phase 2: Eastern Water Feature Renovation 

The existing stone fountain and associated pumps, piping, and river rock will be removed to allow 
for installation of a new self-contained system. This feature is located at the eastern end of the 
water feature. 

The new stone fountain will be installed on a false floor constructed using patented Aquablox® 
Water Matrix Units. 

An excavation measuring approximately 24 feet wide by 26 feet long will be performed within the 
center of the existing eastern pond. Excavation depth will be determined on-site and is anticipated 



7 
 

to be approximately 3.5 feet. Excavated material (approximately 100 cubic yards) will be 
redistributed around the perimeter of the eastern pond, reducing the pond diameter from 
approximately 75 feet to 50 feet. This reduced footprint will help offset stormwater requirements 
for the area. 

The fountain will include a new pumping system designed to provide multiple levels of water 
control to achieve the desired visual effect. 

Additional boulders will be incorporated as necessary to complete the feature. 

Project Specifications 

Phase 1 

A precast concrete vault will be installed to house new submersible pumps. The vault will include 
an opening connecting the pond to the vault, allowing all water flow to pass through a metal 
screening system that prefilters and captures floating debris, including leaves, feathers, trash, and 
windblown materials. The screen will require periodic inspection and cleaning to ensure adequate 
water flow to the pumps. 

The submersible pumps will be positioned behind the metal screening to increase filtration 
efficiency. 

• Pump 1: 
One (1) 5 HP submersible pump with a 6-inch discharge, producing approximately 700 
gallons per minute (GPM). Water will be distributed to a series of circulation jets 
strategically positioned to increase overall circulation within the eastern pond. These jets 
will direct surface water toward the prefilter system to improve water quality. 

• Pump 2: 
One (1) 5 HP submersible pump with a 6-inch discharge, producing approximately 700 
GPM, delivering water to the constructed wetland filtration system. 

Water will initially enter the constructed wetland filter through a water distribution channel 
(Centipede Modules) designed to reduce water velocity by approximately 93%, allowing larger 
particulates to settle within the channel. 

The water will then flow upward through a secondary sedimentation chamber (Aquablox), 
providing additional removal of fine sediments and a further 90% reduction in water velocity. This 
chamber will require annual backflushing using the Snorkel Vault as the cleanout port. 

Following sedimentation, the water will enter a bioreactor composed of high-surface-area 
structured bio-media (FilterBlox). The biofilm within the reactor will consume excess nutrients 
generated by waterfowl, fish, turtles, and dissolved organic compounds. 

The final treatment zone will consist of washed river rock planted with native marginal aquatic 
plants to complete the filtration cycle. 



8 
 

The wetland filtration system is aerobic and requires dissolved oxygen for effective operation. The 
wetland outfall will create a waterfall effect to increase dissolved oxygen levels and ensure efficient 
system performance. 

Phase 2: Eastern Water Feature Renovation 

The existing stone fountain and associated pumps, piping, and river rock will be removed to allow 
for installation of a new self-contained system. This feature is located at the eastern end of the 
water feature. 

The new stone fountain will be installed on a false floor constructed using patented Aquablox® 
Water Matrix Units. 

An excavation measuring approximately 24 feet wide by 26 feet long will be performed within the 
center of the existing eastern pond. Excavation depth will be determined on-site and is anticipated 
to be approximately 3.5 feet. Excavated material (approximately 100 cubic yards) will be 
redistributed around the perimeter of the eastern pond, reducing the pond diameter from 
approximately 75 feet to 50 feet. This reduced footprint will help offset stormwater requirements 
for the area. 

The fountain will include a new pumping system designed to provide multiple levels of water 
control to achieve the desired visual effect. 

Additional boulders will be incorporated as necessary to complete the feature. 

 

 

 

 



9 
 

Material Specifications: 

 



10 
 

 


	committee meeting 2-10-26 agenda
	AP report February 2026
	list of checks
	list of GLs
	Recreation February Committee Report
	Marketing Report - January 2026
	Parks and Facilities Report 
	other Report 2-10-26
	Freedom Park Release Deed legal description
	Intergovernmental Agreement for Freedom Park Release Deed
	Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals.  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated into and made part of this Agreement as though fully set forth in this Section 1.
	Section 2. Release Deed.  SD 100 and the District shall take the appropriate steps to record the Release Deed attached hereto as Exhibit B hereto.
	Section 3. SD 100 Use Rights.  SD 100 is hereby granted the use rights to Freedom Park and the other Berwyn Park District parks listed on Exhibit B hereto, as contractual rights and obligations.
	Section 4. Enforcement.  SD 100 shall have the right to specific performance of this Agreement and the aforesaid conditions and use rights, and SD 100 shall be entitled to recover its costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees if SD 100 prevails in l...
	Section 5. Release Deed.  Upon execution of this Agreement by SD 100 and the District, SD 100 shall promptly execute, and the District shall record, the Release Deed attached hereto as Exhibit B.
	Section 6. .Complete Understanding.  This Agreement sets forth all of the promises, agreements, conditions and understandings between the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, and there are no promises, agreements, conditions and und...
	Section 7. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit the SD 100 and the District, and their respective legal representatives and successors.
	Section 8. Partial Invalidity.  The clauses, provisions and sections of this Agreement are deemed by the parties to be separable and the invalidity of any portion of this Agreement shall not effect the validity of the remainder.
	Section 9. Notices.  All notices and demands required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given or made when delivered personally, with proof of delivery thereof, or when mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepa...
	Section 10. Execution.  This Agreement is entered into by the duly authorized agents of the parties, each acting pursuant to the laws and ordinances governing their designation as signatories of this Agreement.

	Berwyn PD resolution authorizing Intergovernmental Agreement with SD 100.doc
	Berwyn School District 100 resolution authorizing Intergovernmental Agreement with BPD
	Proksa redevelopment
	1.15.26_Aquascape Construction Contract No Markups
	05_costs 20251218_Proksa Park_75CD

